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E. Statement of Historic Contexts

The Military Establishment at Camp George West:
1903-1945

In 1859, two years before the Colorado Territory was established,
a group of citizens within the borders of what would become the
state of Colorado unofficially created the Jefferson Territory and
passed an act to authorize the formation of military companies.
Congress established the Colorado Territory in 1861 and Territorial
Governor William Gilpin formed military companies which evolved
into the First Colorado Volunteers, soldiers who would serve in the
Civil War and respond to calls to deal with Indian unrest. Strife
between Native Americans and new settlers led to the designation of
the governor as commander in chief of the state militia and the
appointment of an adjutant general to lead the troops. After
Colorado became a state in 1876, several companies of militia were
established. On 8 February 1879, the Legislature passed an Act
which recognized the militia, henceforth to be known as the
Colorado National Guard. While during the nineteenth century most
of the activity of Colorado National Guard focused on unrest among
Native American groups, the beginning of the twentieth century
marked an era in which the National Guard was employed in numerous
disputes between labor and management factions in the state.

In 1903, the Colorado National Guard established its only permanent
training facility three miles east of Golden at a site that became
known as the State Rifle Range. As it developed, the post,
designated Camp George West in 1934, became the primary storage and
supply facility for local units and the location of the Guard’s
summer encampments from 1906 through 1944. During the nationwide
economic depression of the 1930s, the post was the site of numerous
public works projects which greatly expanded its facilities and
responsibilities. The historic architecture resulting from these
periods of development represents a unique collection of native
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stone and wood buildings reflecting the many functions of the post
as they expanded over time. Included among the historic resources
are buildings representing the earliest period of development,
which are significant for their application of unquarried stone
construction and Bungalow and Rustic style design elements. The
post contains one of the largest single collections of WPA
sponsored buildings in Colorado. The WPA buildings were designed
by Colorado National Guard architect George Merchant to utilize
stone quarried on the post in construction projects which required
the intensive application of labor. During World War II, temporary
buildings were erected at Camp George West following standard plans
which conserved labor and materials. Today, Camp George West is
utilized as a multipurpose.facility which houses the functions of
several other state government agencies while maintaining storage,
maintenance, and classroom training activities of the Colorado
National Guard.

Early Development of the
State Rifle Range, 1903-1916

During the late nineteenth century, the strength of the National
Guard fluctuated primarily in response to demands for its presence
to deal with Indian unrest. The early twentieth century marked the
beginning of a turbulent time for the Colorado National Guard,
which would result in its further expansion and organization.
Writing in 1935, Major John H. Nankivell noted that:

Strike and riot duty, the bug-bear of all National
Guardsmen and a curse to the State of Colorado in
particular, was to claim much of the attention (and time)
of the state’s military forces during the five and a half
year period from March, 1899, to August, 1904.°

'John H. Nankivell, History of the Military Organizations of
the State of Colorado, 1860-1935 (Denver: W. H. Kistler Stationery
Co., 1935), 156.
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Hundreds of Colorado National Guard troops were ordered into
various mining areas of the state during the 1899-1904 period to
deal with strikes, labor unrest, and civil disturbances.? Colorado
coal miners had helped to organize the United Mine Workers in 1889~
90 and state hardrock miners had participated in forming the
Western Federation of Miners in 1893. Conflict arose as a result
of growing union strength and militancy and company intransigence.

In March 1903, Governor James Peabody dispatched three hundred
Guardsmen to protect smelters and reduction works in Colorado City
and to escort non-union workers to their jobs. Nearly, one
thousand troops were sent to the Cripple Creek area of Teller
County in September 1903 and remained until the following March.

About  four hundred cavalry troops were ordered to Telluride in
November 1903 to help the local sheriff enforce the law, while
three hundred troops were stationed in the Trinidad area from March
to June 1904 to suppress a rebellion of coal miners. Through use
of the National Guard and with the support by the state courts,
businesses had broken the influence of mine workers’ unions by

°An overview of the role of the Colorado National Guard in
dealing with labor unrest in the mining sector will be provided
here. The issue has been treated extensively elsewhere: George G.
Suggs, Jr., Colorado’s War on Militant Unionism: James H. Peabody
and the Western Federation of Miners (Norman, Oklahoma: University
of Oklahoma Press, 1972); George S. McGovern and Leonard F.
Guttridge, The Great Coalfield War (Boston: Houghton-Mifflin and
Co., 1972); and U. S. Congress, Senate, Industrial Relations: Final
Report and Testimony Submitted to Congress by the Commission on
Industrial Relations, 64th Congress, 1lst. sess., 1916.
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1905-06.3

While specific issues such as wages and hours were involved in such
disputes, the common theme throughout the period was company
recognition of unions as collective bargaining agents for workers.
As was the case nationally, organized labor in Colorado viewed the
National Guard as a tool of big business. In Colorado, "interested
companies in each case directly financed the use of the National
Guard by cashing certificates of indebtedness issued by the state."
Aware of public perceptions, National Guard leaders "recognized
that this antagonism hurt their chances to be part of the efficient
national military force, [and] wanted to see special constabularies
formed to deal with industrial strife, thus relieving the Guard of
the onus."*

In confronting these situations of unrest, the Colorado National
Guard had to simultaneously deal with such on-going tasks as
training, recruitment, and supplies. In the first training camp in
several years, a three-day camp of instruction was held for a
portion of the Guard in Boulder in July and August 1901. The
troops camped west of the university overlooking Boulder Creek and
participated in a parade through the city. In September and
October of 1902, limited numbers of Colorado Guardsmen were sent to
Fort Riley, Kansas, for training maneuvers. A lack of funds
prevented more Coloradans attending.?®

3carl Abbott, Stephen J. Leonard, and David McComb, Colorado:
A History of the Centennial State (Boulder, Colo.: Colorado
Associated University Press, 1982), 139, 147, 149.

‘aAbbott, et al, 144 and 155; and John K. Mahon, History of the
Militia and the National Guard (New York: Macmillan Publishing Co.,
1983), 150-51.

*Nankivell, 156-8.
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Writing in November 1901, Captain Evans E. Winters, Inspector of
Small Arms Practice for the Colorado Guard, reported that only a
handful of Colorado Guard units had participated in rifle practice
during the year. He cited such factors as more stringent
regulations for conducting practice, the relatively small number of
men who had completed a required course on sighting, position, and
aiming, and the 1lack of adequate rifle range facilities,
particularly in the Denver area. In discussing the latter issue,
Winters noted the extreme range of current rifle ammunition and
concluded that the problem of finding suitable locations for rifle
practice would become more difficult as agricultural and
residential 1land uses expanded in outlying areas of the
metropolitan area. Winters proposed the following:

It is, therefore, recommended that steps be taken to
secure lands for a permanent state range at such a point
as may be determined by a military board. Such range
would necessarily have to be some distance from the more
thickly populated settlements, and, while its
accessibility should be considered, it should be so
situated as to guarantee immunity from injunctions
against its use. It should also have a desirable camp
site, and the question of drainage, sanitary conditions,
water supply, etc., should be fully considered in making
the selection.

Captain Winters noted that the ranges used by some Denver area
Guard units at Aurora and Sullivan (southeast of Denver) were
unsuitable due to topography. The range offered to the state by
the Carlsbad company near Barr Lake was deemed not practicable due
to inadequate transportation facilities. The state apparently felt
some pressure from the U. S. Army to establish a rifle range for
training purposes. Adjutant General Bulkeley Wells noted in 1907

Sstate Adjutant General, Biennial Report of the Adjutant
General, 1901-1902 (Denver: Smith-Brooks Printing Co., 1902), 119,
122.
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that: "The War Department for the past two years has been
particularly insistent upon the devotion of much time and funds to
rifle practice, rating proficiency in the use of the rifle at 8.5
points out of a possible 10, taken to represent the efficiency of
a soldier."”

A site three miles east of Golden near South Table mountain was
selected for use as a State Rifle Range. According to the 1934
Biennial Report of the Adjutant General, it was George West,
Adjutant General from 1887-89 and editor and publisher of the
Colorado Transcript in Golden, "who first recommended the site to
the State authorities."® The property near Golden was desirable
for a number of reasons: proximity to Denver and the largest
concentration of population in the state, thus facilitating
training access; existence of an operating target range in the same
area; access by a principal road and by a standard gauge interurban
trolley 1line; 1location under the Jjurisdiction of a county
government with no city within three miles; and the absence of
dense residential development nearby.

The first parcel of land for a State Rifle Range near Golden was
acquired in 1903 by the State Adjutant General from Moses Wyman.
The total purchase price was four thousand dollars, with the final
payment of $2,667 made during 1905-06.° The transaction involved

Toffice of Adjutant General, Biennial Report of the Adjutant
General, 1905-07 (Denver: Smith-Brooks Printing Co., 1907).

8state Adjutant General, Biennial Report of the Adjutant
General, 1934 (Denver: State Adjutant General, 1934).

9Jefferson County Clerk and Recorder, General Records, Book
151, Page 540, recorded 14 December 1906, and Biennial Report of
the Adjutant General, 1905-06 (Denver: Smith-Brooks Printing cCo.,
1907), 8.
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75.38 acres near South Table Mountain east of Golden, Colorado.
The parcel included land on both sides of South Golden Road but
excluded the hundred-foot right of way of the Denver, Lakewood, and
Golden Railroad. This parcel was adjoined on the east by a narrow
strip of land owned by the Denver Rifle Club Association.

The state military wasted little time in making use of its new
property. A rifle range was established and regular courses in
rifle and pistol practice were offered. Adjutant General Sherman
M. Bell reported in 1904 that "many of the organizations took
advantage and some remarkable scores were made" in rifle practice
that year, but time spent on dealing with strikes and labor unrest
had prevented the concentration on rifle practice that he had
intended.®

Various medals and trophies were established by the Adjutant
General to "encourage proficiency in the use of the rifle, carbine,
and pistol." 1In October 1905 and August 1906, rifle and pistol
competitions were held at the Rifle Range. Rifle target shooting
at two hundred, three hundred, and six hundred yards took place in
1905 and at two hundred and six hundred yards in 1906. Military
historian John Nankivell stated that the facility near Golden was
the only rifle range in the state for many years and was used by
"regulars, national guardsmen, and rifle clubs for ordinary
marksmanship practice and periodical matches."!

The first training encampment of the Colorado National Guard at the
Rifle Range and the first held anywhere since 1901 was held at the

0state Adjutant General, Biennial Report of the Adjutant
General, 1903-04 (Denver: Smith-Brooks Printing Co., 1904),

"lstate Adjutant General, Biennial Report of the Adjutant
General, 1905-07 (Denver: Smith-Brooks Printing Co., 1907), 14, 30;
Nankivell, History of the Military Organizations, 356, 409;
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installation from 7 July through 31 August 1906, with forty
officers and 350 enlisted men attending. Training was undertaken
under supervision of regular Army instructors. A camp of
instruction for members of National Guard Signal Corps units was
staged at the Rifle Range in July 1907. A 1909 publication on Fort
Logan, southwest of Denver, shows regular Army troops volley firing
at what appears to be the State Rifle Range; no concrete firing
lines are in evidence in the photograph. The "Rifle Range" was
listed as a stop on a 1905 timetable of the interurban railroad and
a 1909 article described the Rifle Range as one of five "principal
sources of passenger traffic" on the line.'?

Colorado National Guard troops attended training under regular Army
instructors during August 1908 at Camp Emmett Crawford in Pole
Mountain, Wyoming. In an effort to expand the available training
area .at the Rifle Range, the National Guard acquired a 14.77 acre
strip of land adjoining the existing facility on the northwest side
late in 1908. Florence R. and Jonas M. Johnson, Jr., received
$738.37 for the parcel. The existing firing lines are located on
this piece of land, which brought the total area of the facility to
90.15 acres.®

The first building of significant size and the oldest extant
building on the Rifle Range was erected in the southern part of the
camp as an officers’ clubhouse and residence for the caretaker of

2state Adjutant General, Biennial Report of the Adjutant
General, 1905-07 (Denver: Smith-Brooks Printing Co., 1907), 14, 30;
Nankivell, History of the Military Organizations, 356, 409; Views
of Fort Logan, Colorado (Denver: William Bevington, 1909); Electric
Railway Journal 34(2 October 1909):513; and Denver, Lakewood, and
Golden Railroad Collection, Colorado Historical Society, Denver,
Colorado.

BJjefferson County Clerk, General Records, Book 162, Page 11,
recorded 13 November 1908.
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the Rifle Range in 1911-12. The $3,000 building (Building Number
67)' was constructed so that the officers of the Colorado National
Guard could "live comfortably and pleasantly while annually
attending the shooting practice of the guard at the rifle range."
Originally, the building was designed only for use during the
summer months when the Rifle Range was in use. Heating was not
provided, although fireplaces were included to supply heat on
occasional cold days during training season. By the early 1930s,
however, the building had been converted to a residence for the
caretaker and his family and the front part of the building was
utilized as the camp office and headquarters.

The officer’ clubhouse/caretaker’s residence was designed by Albert
Bryan, a draftsman and architect in the employ of the State
Adjutant General. Bryan had been a draftsman with the Denver Iron
and Wire Works from 1901-03 and an independent architect before
working for the state military in 1911-12. The building was
constructed in the Bungalow style, using unsplit native stone found
in a nearby creek. The Bungalow style was one of the most popular
styles for residential architecture during the early twentieth
century in America. The stylistic influence was evident in the
building’s low-pitched, gabled roof with overhanging eaves, exposed
rafters, and exposed king-post truss in the front gable end. The
full-width porch of the building was inset under the roof gable and
was supported by battered stone piers. Stone porch and stair walls
had bands of concrete trim. The design of the officers’ clubhouse/
caretaker’s residence set a precedent for future construction which
would employ the stone found in creeks and gulches on or near the
post, as well as stone quarried from post lands on South Table
Mountain.® '

During a ten-day camp of instruction at the Rifle Range in

“Buildings referred to by Building Number are still extant.

Denver Republican, 12 November 1911, 6.
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September 1911, discussions were held by Captain W. Goff Caples
(Camp Inspector-Instructor of the Corps of Engineers), Dr. Victor
G. Alderson (President of the Colorado School of Mines in Golden),
and Captain Joseph C. Taylor (Colorado National Guard). The result
of the meetings was a decision to award credits toward graduation
from the School of Mines to persons completing a course of military
instruction including training at the Rifle Range. Later, plans
for an armory and dormitory in Golden to house a company of
engineers attending the Colorado School of Mines in Golden were
developed.  The four-story, cobblestone armory, designed by
Albert Bryan, was constructed in 1912-13 at 1301 Arapahoe Street in
Golden and contained a drill hall, dormitory, mess, parlors, and
library. The Armory (5JF180) was llSted on the National Register
of Hlstorlc Places in 1978.%

The Colorado National Guard and the School of Mines had a close
relationship due to student participation in the Guard. The Guard
felt it benefitted from this relationship by providing military
training to college students who would make good officer material
if the need arose. Company A, the only engineering corps west of
the Mississippi, was one of only two units composed of technical
personnel in the country. About twenty percent of Company A was
made up of School of Mines students during the early years. When
recruiting for a new unit, Battery B, 158th Artillery began in
1923, the entire membership of the School of Mines Kappa Sigma

%John H. Nankivell, comp., "History of the 115th Regiment of
Engineers (1lst Battalion Colorado Engineers), 1909-1919" (N.p.,
n.d.), 1; Georgina Brown, The Shining Mountains (Gunnison, Colo.:
B&B Printers, 1976), 137-38; and Lorraine Wagenbach and Jo Ann E.
Thistlewood, Golden: The 19th Century (Littleton, Colo.: Harbinger
House, 1987), 34.

"Brown, 137-138; Wagenbach and Thistlewood, 34; and Dan
Galbraith, "History of the Armory," manuscript on file at the
Colorado Historical Society, Denver, Colo.
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fraternity enlisted, with their service earnings going toward the
construction of a new fraternity house. Part of the fraternity
brothers’ obligation was to report once a week to the Rifle
Range.'®

The years 1913-14 constituted a busy period for the Colorado
National Guard. Coal fields throughout the state were embroiled in
a bitter dispute over mine owner recognition of labor unions. 1In
September 1913, the United Mine Workers struck mines in the
southern coalfields in Las Animas and Huerfano counties; fighting
between striking miners and mine guards followed. In October,
Governor Elias Ammons sent Adjutant General John Chase to the area
with two regiments of infantry and three troops of cavalry. A six
month standoff finally ended in April 1914, when a National Guard
detachment fired on the tent colony at Ludlow, killing five
" strikers and one boy. An ensuing fire resulted in the deaths of
two women and eleven children. The "Ludlow Massacre" triggered ten
days of open warfare between the National Guard and more than one
thousand armed strikers. Order was restored only when regular Army
troops were sent to the area.'

The findings of a three-officer commission of the Colorado National
Guard that investigated the Guard’s actions at Ludlow recommended
that several officers and enlisted men face court martial. After
the report was leaked to the press, court martials were held during
the summer of 1914 in Building 67, the officers’ clubhouse/
caretaker’s residence at the State Rifle Range. The tribunals
acquitted the defendants of all charges.?

8Galbraith.
¥abbott, 151.

XGeorge S. McGovern and ILeonard F. Guttridge, The Great
Coalfield War (Boston: Houghton Mifflin Co., 1972), 284-87.
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The years Jjust prior to World War I were important in the
development of the State Rifle Range. When Secretary of War
Lindley M. Garrison and Army General Leonard Wood visited the
Denver area in August 1913, their trip to the Rifle Range included
a reception at the officers’ clubhouse/caretaker’s residence and
lunch in the large mess hall.?' The chief aim of local military
and civic leaders was to convince Garrison not to abolish Fort
Logan, an army post southwest of Denver founded in 1887. They also
wanted to "point out to him what a splendid location [the Rifle
Range] has been selected for a mobilization point for this district
in the event of war."? The selection of the Rifle Range as a
mobilization point was accompanied by $5,000 from the War
Department for construction of a fireproof ammunition and weapons
storehouse at the facility. A spokesman for the Adjutant General
explained that "we have been after this storage house for years,
and now that we have the money, work of construction will begin
immediately."?

This structure, Building 52, was completed west of the officers’
clubhouse/caretaker’s residence during the 1913-14 period and
included a concrete loading platform and a stub siding built by the
Denver and Inter-Mountain Railroad, facilitating 1loading and
unloading of supplies and equipment. The warehouse was a large
rectangular structure constructed of coursed, split and unsplit
fieldstone. The gabled roof of the building had overhanging eaves

21No longer extant, the large mess hall was apparently a frame
building built on the north side of South Golden Road across from
the Officers Clubhouse.

Zcolorado National Guard Bulletin, 18 August 1913 and 3
September 1913.

BJohn Chase Manuscript Collection, Scrapbooks, Denver Public
Library, Western History Department, Denver, Colorado.
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and large, exposed beams. Multi-light windows had heavy, roughly
quarried stone window sills and lintels. The interior of the
building was composed of two levels to accommodate storage and had
a freight elevator to facilitate access to the upper level.

In September 1913, a five-day camp of instruction for all branches
of the Colorado National Guard was held at the Rifle Range, with
regular Army officers and sergeants conducting training. Artillery
units fired rounds at an unseen target 2,300 yards distant. A
"mimic war" between units divided into Red and Brown armies was
staged, involving maneuvers and tactics and wutilizing the
surrounding countryside. Crowds of spectators came from Denver by
trolley and automobile to watch the spectacle but left somewhat
disappointed by modern warfare tactics. The Rocky Mountain News
complained:

During the entire afternoon scarcely a soldier was seen.
Creeping along in twos and threes with their mud-colored
khaki wuniforms blending into the landscape, firing
smokeless powder and taking advantage of every rock and
bush for concealment, they offered little enough that was
spectacular.?

By mid-1914, more storage space was being planned for the Rifle
Range, including a second storehouse and gun shed to the west of
the original one. The Colorado National Guard Bulletin for 15 June
1914 reported that "Captains Dahlene and Taylor have been
prospecting the hills south of the Rifle Range and to their
surprise found abundant stone for the new building. About 400
perch of stone have already been hauled for the new building."?®

%Rocky Mountain News, 22 September 1913, 3.

Hcolorado National Guard Bulletin, 15 June 1914. A perch of
stone is equivalent to 24.75 cubic feet. Four-hundred perch would
equal 9,900 cubic feet and would fill a cube slightly larger than
twenty-one feet on each side.
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The building (Building 55) was completed in 1914 and the old
Colorado National Guard armory at 26th and Curtis streets in Denver
was abandoned. The concrete loading platform outside Building 52,
the first warehouse, also was extended seventy~five feet westward,
permitting the unloading of ten railroad cars at one time.?

Both warehouses carried out the rustic theme initiated by the
clubhouse/caretaker’s residence (Building 67), utilizing the native
fieldstone construction. The stones which composed the warehouses
were gathered on nearby land and laid in courses, with larger
stones being utilized to simulate quoins at the corners of the
buildings. The overall character of the warehouses was vernacular,
with design elements repeated from Building 67, including gabled
roofs with overhanging eaves, concrete foundations, stone chimneys,
and multi-light windows. The second warehouse was slightly larger
than the first and was distinguished by circular windows in the

upper gable ends and concrete window sills and 1lintels. The
interior of the second building was also divided into two levels
and had a freight elevator. The construction of these large

permanent buildings indicated that the Rifle Range had become not
only a site for rifle practice, but the storage center for state
and federal property to be utilized by Guard units and a site for
mobilization in time of war.?¥

One of the reasons for expanding storage at the Rifle Range was
that the Army required each state National Guard to maintain
equipment to supply its minimum authorized strength, a number that
was always greater than the number of Guardsmen actually enrolled.
Writing in 1916, Adjutant General John Chase reported that the new
storage system at the Rifle Range had worked well during the last

%7pid.; and Chase Collection, Scrapbooks.

Z7Bulletin of the National Guard of Colorado, 18 August 1913.
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coal strike. With most of the supplies housed at the Rifle Range,
empty railcars were moved over the standard gauge line to the
storehouse siding, supplies were loaded, and the cars returned to
Denver to meet assembled troops. Steel plates were placed between
the storehouse dock and railcars to facilitate the loading process.
"Because of the success of the plan of handling the equipment,"
Chase argued, "the military department has felt constrained to
spend a considerable amount of money at the Rifle Range in
developing the storage facilities." The water supply at the
installation had also been expanded during 1915, so that more than
one h%?dred thousand gallons could be pumped into the system
daily.

As the Rifle Range developed, so too did the surrounding area, as
subdivision platting activity moved outward from Denver and Golden
to the suburban periphery. Richard Heights, on the north side of
South Golden Road just east of the Rifle Range, was platted in
1909, while Pleasant View to the south was platted in 1908.
William Abraham Bell attempted to develop the Bell Estates
subdivision east of the camp. Bell was a native of England, who
had long been active in the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad. The
ultimately unsuccessful development featured two stone and wood
entry gates on South Golden Road and Wideacre Road linked by a long
horseshoe-shaped drive lined by trees to the north.?

®pyeblo Colorado Chieftain, 2 January 1916, in Chase
Collection, Scrapbooks.

¥1egal Titles of Subdivisions in Adams, Arapahoe, Boulder,
Denver, Jefferson Counties (Denver: Design Engineering Division,
n.d.); Lee Scamehorn, A Calendar of Papers of William Abraham Bell,
1841~1921 (Denver: Colorado Historical Society, 1970), iii; and
Lynn Yehle to James E. Miller, letter, 18 December 1991.
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Mexican Border Service and World War I
at the State Rifle Range: 1916-1918

Francisco "Pancho" Villa‘’s March 1916 raid on Columbus, New Mexico,
illustrated the political instability of Mexico and the
vulnerability of United States communities near the international
border. In May, President Woodrow Wilson called the National Guard
units of Texas, New Mexico, and Arizona to federal service. On 16
June 1916, the National Guards of the remaining states, including
Colorado, were mobilized for service on the Mexican border. At
this date, the Colorado Guard was in the 15th Division of the Army.
Military historian John Mahon concludes that Wilson apparently
"issued his call primarily to test the capability of the Guard to
mobilize as part of the national military force."3°

In Colorado, the Rifle Range served as the mobilization point for
National Guard units heading south. Colorado’s quota of troops for
the operation was two battalions of infantry, one squadron of
cavalry, two battalions of field artillery, two companies of
engineers, one field hospital, and one signal company. While all
units included in the call had assembled at the Rifle Range by mid-
July, the Colorado detachment did not depart for the Mexican border
until mid-October. In the interim, the troops were housed in tents
north of South Golden Road and south of Lena Gulch at the Rifle
Range and trained intensively in target practice, marching, and
tactical exercises. The long period in camp was not unexpected,
for Adjutant General Harry P. Gamble remarked at the time of
activation: "After they are sixty days in camp we can whip them
into fine condition for service. Give us that length of time and
we can find out what we have got and just what the government can
expect of us." On 16 October 1916, the Colorado contingent of
twenty-three officers and 513 enlisted men boarded regular railroad

30John K. Mahon, History of the Militia and the National Guard
(New York: Macmillan Publishing Co., 1983), 151.
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passenger cars at the Rifle Range bound for Camp Douglas,
Arizona.>

As with other National Guard troops assigned to border service, the
Coloradans camped on the U. S. side and fought "nothing but heat,
insects, and boredom." Participating Guardsmen did gain valuable
training and experience, while state Guard staffs benefitted from
direct experience at mobilization.3?

Mobilization during the conflict had been facilitated by the
westward extension of the Denver and Inter-mountain Railroad siding
at the Rifle Range. Grading and construction was performed by
state military crews. The purpose of this was twofold: to serve
the recently built storehouse (Building 55) for loading and
unloading of stores and equipment and to provide an additional
source of water for the camp. For the latter task, a water tank
car would be brought from Denver and parked at the far western end
of the siding. An underground pipe extended northward from this
point, where water discharged from the car could flow by gravity to
company billeting areas on the other side of South Golden Road.®

Colorado National Guard troops participating in the Mexican border
operation returned to Fort D. A. Russell, Wyoming, on 3 April 1917.
As United States involvement in World War I appeared imminent,

3'Nankivell, 202, 206 and Denver Post, 19 June 1916.

32Mahon, 152.

1

3colorado State Military Auditor to Traffic Manager, Denver
and Inter-Mountain Railroad, letter, 11 June 1919, in Colorado,
Department of Military Affairs, Facilities Management, records
pertaining to Camp George West and Mark E. Conway, retired colonel
and former commander Camp George West, interview, 23 January 1992,
Lakewood, Colorado.
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these troops were retained in federal service. Following the
American declaration of war against Germany on 7 April 1917, the
Colorado Guardsmen were sent to Fort lLogan and assigned to protect
public utilities in and around Denver. Colorado Governor Julius C.
Gunter mobilized all state guard units not yet in federal service
into camps of instruction on 7 July 1917. One such camp was
located at the Rifle Range, where the troops were equipped and
underwent intensive training. These state troops were drafted into
federal service on 5 August 1917.3* The Colorado National Guard
supplied a total of 3,345 men for induction into federal service
for World War I. Two-thirds of the Colorado troops served with the
40th Division, while the artillery was attached to the First Corps
and engineers to Sixth Corps.?®

It was during the World War I period that the Denver and Inter-
Mountain Railroad waiting station (Building 116) was constructed.
Located on the south side of the camp just west of the main
entrance, the 1917 station provided shelter to passengers waiting
for the trolleys to Golden or Denver. The station imitated the
Bungalow design of the 1911 officers’ clubhouse/caretaker’s
residence (Building 67) and employed the same unsplit fieldstone
construction and gabled roof with exposed truss system. The widely
overhanging eaves sheltered waiting passengers, as did the open
waiting area inside the building.3

3%Nankivell, Military Organizations, 410 and Colorado, State
Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1917-18 (Denver: Smith-Brooks
Printing Co., 1918), 4.

3colorado, Division of National Guard, Master Plan.

3colorado, Division of National Guard, Master Plan (Denver:
Division of National Guard, c. 1965). The 1957 Record of Real
Property does not list a year of construction for this building.
Historic photographs show the station in place by 1929. Ken
Forrest of the Colorado Railway Historical Society believes the
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As the existing National Guard units were brought into federal
service for World War I and left the state, new units were created
and called to state service for protecting public utilities and
strategic points around the state. Dams, reservoirs, the Capitol,
the Rifle Range, Denver’s Armory, and the railroad route through
the Royal Gorge were guarded against sabotage or attack. Companies
A, B, and C of the 3rd Regiment and Companies A and B of the 1st
Separate Battalion contained an average of nine officers and 283
enlisted men throughout the war. The latter two companies were
designated as "colored" units, primarily recruited from the black
community of Denver.¥

In addition to its purchased lands, the National Guard also
utilized Section 36, Township 3 South, Range 70 West, lying to the
north of the existing facility. The section, transferred from the
public domain in 1876 by State Grant when Colorado entered the
Union, was owned by the state and used by the National Guard under
a lease arrangement. On 6 April 1919, the lease with the State
Board of Land Commissioners was renewed for five years at $64.80
per year. The National Guard subleased a portion of the section as
pasture at $64.80 per year.

A number of improvements were made to Section 36 by the National
Guard before they formally purchased the section in 1920. In 1918,
a survey and plat map of land and improvements owned or leased by
the National Guard in the Rifle Range area was undertaken by C. L.
Chatfield of the Army Corps of Engineers. Four rifle pits, a frame
target shed constructed in 1916, and a portion of the telephone
lines leading to the pits were then located in Section 36, with the

World War I date is reasonable and pointed out that the financial
difficulties of the railroad would have made its construction
before 1909 unlikely. Interview, 22 January 1992, Golden,
Colorado.

37state Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1917-18, 64.
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remainder of improvements located to the south on land owned by the
National Guard. A portion of Section 36 was also subleased as an
alfalfa field for livestock grazing.3

Reorganization and Expansion of
the State Rifle Range: 1919-1932

The State Rifle Range greatly expanded in terms of area and
facilities during the 1920s. Following World War I, the National
Guard and its congressional supporters had successfully resisted
military reorganization proposals that would have reduced the role
of the Guard in favor of some form of universal military training.

Land Acquisitions

The 1920s saw more than a sevenfold increase in the land area of
the State Rifle Range. A narrow strip of land adjoining the east
side of the facility was purchased from the Denver Rifle Club
Association for fifteen hundred dollars in June 1920. The 5.03
acre addition brought the total area of the Rifle Range to 95.18
acres.® The greatest increase in the size of the installation

38c, L. cChatfield to Adjutant General, State of Colorado,
letter, 17 April 1918, in Colorado Department of Military Affairs,
Facilities Management, records pertaining to Camp George West. No
copy of this map could be found in the files of the Colorado
Department of Military Affairs, the Colorado State Archives, or the
Omaha Regional Office, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers. Mark E.
Conway, retired colonel, Colorado National Guard, remembered it as
a "gorgeous, detailed map" and last recalled seeing it in the late
1960s.

¥Jefferson County Clerk and Recorder, General Records, Book
224, Page 186, recorded 23 August 1920.
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occurred in August 1920, when all of Section 36, Township 3 South,
Range 70 West, 1lying just north of the existing 1lands, was
acquired. State Adjutant General Spangler noted that this section
had been controlled by the National Guard for "many years" under a
lease and explained the reasons for its purchase:

This section, being State school land, was at all times
subject to sale, and as parcels of the section became
strongly in demand for agricultural purposes, and the
further fact that the sale of the section to outsiders
would make the owned military property valueless for a
Rifle Range, the Military Board authorized the
purchase.*

As state land, Section 36 was acquired by the National Guard from
the State Board of Land Commissioners for $11,800. The total area
of the State Rifle Range following this addition was 735.18
acres.*!

The final land acquisition of the 1920s occurred in March 1924,
when a tract of land adjoining the post on the east was purchased
from Fred A. Stone for $3,094.00.% The parcel, which included a
sliver of land on the south side of South Golden Road, consisted of
15.47 acres. The 750.65 total acres resulting from this
transaction represented the maximum extent of the State Rifle
Range. Despite the expansion, State Adjutant General Paul P.
Newlon recommended in late 1924 that more land be purchased near

40state Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1919-20., 17.

“gefferson County Clerk and Recorder, General Records, Book
224, Page 187, recorded 23 August 1920.

“gefferson County Clerk and Recorder, General Records, Book
256, Page 174, recorded 8 April 1924.
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the Rifle Range to provide room for more camp sites and for an
artillery range.®® The 1924 boundaries remained in effect until
1938, when the first reduction in the facility’s 1land area
occurred.

New Buildings

The number of buildings on the State Rifle Range grew considerably
during the 1920s.%# In April 1919, according to State Adjutant
General William A. Spangler, the Rifle Range "was in a state of
disrepair, no repairs or improvements having been made for several
years." During the next two years, the two-hundred, six-hundred,
and one-thousand-yard firing pits and the telephone system were
repaired, a heating plant was built for showers, and a pistol range
was constructed. A garage costing $1,500 was constructed in the
latter part of 1919 and a small bore range was constructed in late
1920. By the end of 1920, improvements at the Rifle Range had an
estimated total value of $31,494.85. Most buildings were clustered
near South Golden Road, with firing lines and targets located to
the north. The estimated value of improvements in Section 36 was
$4,260, consisting of skirmish pits, a target shed, a fence, the
one-thousand-yard pit, and part of the telephone line in the
southwest quarter and the six-hundred and eight-hundred-yard pits,
trenches, and part of the telephone line in the south half of the
southeast quarter.%

“3state Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1923-1924 (Denver:
Clark Quick, 1924), 26.

4No maps of the camp in the 1920s could be located; a reduced
version of a 1941 map is included and may be helpful in following
the discussion of the installation’s development.

“state Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1919-20 (Denver:
Smith-Brooks Printing Co., 1920), 10, 16-19 and State Adjutant
General to the State Land Board, letter, 7 July 1920, in Colorado
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During the early 1920s, a five-year construction program for the
State Rifle Range was developed and "a systematic schedule of
progressive work established to make the State Rifle Range one of
the most complete and up to date ranges in existence."* Based
on buildings actually constructed during the 1920s, the plan was
aimed at providing additional storage space for supplies and
equipment and upgrading the troop facilities for annual summer
encampments.

By the end of 1922, the estimated value of State Rifle Range
buildings had more than doubled to $62,625. A number of buildings
had been added during 1922 in the southern part of the camp below
South Golden Road. Six wagon sheds (later designated as Buildings
57 to 62) were built in a row west and south of the existing

storehouses. The one-story frame wagon sheds were long (30’ X
140’): rectangular buildings of a vernacular design, with gabled
roofs with overhanging eaves and exposed rafters. The side

elevations had a series of sliding garage doors facilitating
storage of wagons. Until the mid-1930s, the National Guard relied
heavily on horses and wagons to transport equipment and supplies.
In 1935, the military undertook a modernization program to convert
to mechanized vehicles and the wagon sheds were modified for
storage.

Just east of the initial storehouse (Building 52), a filling
station (Building 51) was constructed. The filling station was
designed with Bungalow influences similar to the officers’
clubhouse/caretaker’s residence (Building 67) and the railroad
waiting station. The 1922 filling station was a one-story,
coursed, unsplit fieldstone building with a gabled roof with
exposed truss system supported by battered stone piers. A short

Department of Military Affairs, Facilities Management, records
pertaining to Camp George West.

“state Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1923-1924, 13.
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distance to the southwest, a garage and motor repair shop was
built. A steel water tank (Structure 63), fifty-feet tall, with a
twenty-thousand-gallon capacity, was erected between the motor
repair shop and the first wagon shed to the west.

During the latter part of 1924, the Rifle Range firing points were
in the midst of being "overhauled and reconstructed." The firing
lines in gquestion were apparently those still present on the
western edge of the installation. The target butt for the range as
configured for today’s firing lines is visible in 1920s photographs
of the installation.?

The post added eight frame and brick buildings between 1923 and
1926. Building 35, a frame storage building, was built in 1923 on
the north side of South Golden Road northeast of the main entrance.
This wvernacular frame building with drop wood and pressed metal
siding had a gabled roof and exposed raters typical of other
storage/utility buildings on the post.

Four frame buildings related to munitions storage were constructed
in 1925 on the north side of camp about seven hundred feet north of
the main entrance. These included three small magazines, of which
one, Building 34 remains. This very small frame (now stuccoed)
building was of vernacular design with a gabled roof, exposed
rafters, six-light windows, and gabled roof vent. Building 33, a
larger small arms and ammunition storage building, echoed the
vernacular design of the storage/utility building of the post in
its frame construction, gabled roof with exposed rafters, sliding
garage doors, and six-light windows. A frame blacksmith shop on
the extreme southern boundary of the camp near the wagon sheds was
also built in 1925.

Two brick bath and latrine facilities were located next to each
other on the northwest side of camp. In 1926, another
bathhouse/latrine was erected north of the mess area in the eastern

“1bid.
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part of camp (Building 37). One of the few brick structures from
the period of the post’s historic development, Building 37 was a
modest vernacular structure with gabled roof. Writing in late
1926, the State Adjutant General acknowledged that the state and
federal governments had been "quite liberal" in providing funds for
improving facilities at the State Rifle Range for summer
encampments . "4

Some of the last buildings constructed at Camp George West during
the 1920s marked a return to the use of native stone in camp
architecture. Twelve mess halls were built in 1927 in an east-west
row on the north side of camp just north of South Golden Road.
The mess halls were built primarily as kitchens for food
preparation with a small area for dining. During summer
encampments, companies pitched tents in columns north of each mess
hall.. Rather than having the mess centralized in a large building,
the halls were small, one-story rectangular buildings with central
entrances on gable ends and a series of evenly spaced, six-light
windows on side elevations. The gable roofed buildings were
composed of native fieldstone to window sill level and horizontal
tongue-in-groove siding to eaves. The design of the mess halls was
based on a standard plan provided by the Quartermaster at Fort Sam
Houston and adapted for Camp George West.

Two structures associated with the camp’s water system were erected
in 1927. A fifty-foot, 22,000-gallon steel water tank was
installed north of south Golden Road near the bath/latrine
buildings. In 1937, this tank was moved to the south side of the
camp adjacent to the original tank; in the 1960s, it was
disassembled for scrap. A pump house (Building 84) for the camp’s
shallow well was also constructed.

A February 1930 feature story in the Denver Post profiled the Rifle
Range warehouses:

8gtate Adjutant General, Biennial Report, 1925-26 (Denver:
Clark Quick, 1926), 15.
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Imagine a huge department store, stocked with nearly 2
million dollars worth of "merchandise," but devoted
exclusively to articles of equipment for soldiers of all
branches, and you have the institution housed in several
dull red buildings at the range. Every conceivable
object used by an army, from tanks and trucks to needles
and socks, is to be found on the shelves there in the
warehouses and gun sheds.

As the chief supply center for the Colorado National Guard,
equipment and supplies were shipped from the Rifle Range to Guard
units throughout the state. Material was kept on hand to replace
worn or lost equipment and to supply units in the event of a state
or national emergency. The operation was then under the direction
of National Guard Quartermaster Alphonse P. Ardourel and chief
caretaker Frank Ardourel.*’

Further improvements were made to the post facilities during the
early 1930s. The 1930-31 period saw federal funding of an
officers’ mess hall at a cost of three thousand dollars (Building
43). The fieldstone hall reflected the design of earlier rustic
buildings through its gabled roof and prominent full=-width porch
with battered stone piers. An additional wagon shed cost two
thousand dollars, and a commissary was erected for three thousand
dollars. State funds were used to build a $1,500 hospital, as well
as to repair and stucco a building, repair the canteen, surface
roads and walkways, and to grade the parade ground. "

An additional twenty-five thousand dollar improvement plan for the
Rifle Range was announced in October 1931. The initial project was
the drilling of a deep well in the eastern portion of the post,
under a $5,960 contract with Stearns-Roger Company of Denver. An

“penver Post, 9 February 1930.

*°penver Post, 13 October 1931.
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additional fourteen thousand dollars in new construction requested
included a recreation building, a headquarters building, a horse
shed, and a horse corral. National Guard Quartermaster Alphonse P.
Ardourel opined that "when the program is completed, the rifle
range will be one of the best National Guard fields in the
country. "'

Activities

In 1923, the first summer training encampment since before World
War I was held at the State Rifle Range for members of the Colorado
National Guard. For the remainder of the 1920s, encampments were
held annually, generally in June, and featured regular Army
training instructors. While Guardsmen trained year-round by units
in local armories, the annual encampments permitted specialized
instruction, as well as large-group exercises in maneuvers and
tactics.

In August 1924, a variety of groups attending summer training at
Fort Logan, southwest of Denver, were transported to the State
Rifle Range. Included were attendees of the Citizens’ Military
Training Camps (CMTC), engineers in the Reserve Officers Training
Corps, and the 103rd Division of the Organized Reserves.
Participants were at the Rifle Range for several days and took part
in a sham battle and received training from regular Army
instructors in rifle, pistol, and machine gun marksmanship.
General of the Armies John J. Pershing visited the Rifle Range on
22 August 1924, inspected the progress of participants, and
addressed the group, as well as several thousand spectators.>’

11bid.

’Military Training Camps Association of the United States,
Iet’s Go, vol. III, The Sketching Board, The Cactus (Chicago:
Military Training Camps Association of the United States, 1924),
39, 50. A photograph on page 52 of this publication shows trainees
shooting from the type of firing line still extant at the post.
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During the 1920s, fewer incidents of 1labor unrest required
intervention by the National Guard. The Guard was mobilized in the
following instances: Pueblo steel mill strike (December 1919-
January 1920); Frederick and Boulder County coalfield strike (June
1922); and the coalfield strike in many areas of the state led by
the Industrial Workers of the World (October 1927).°

When civil disorder accompanied a strike against the Denver City
Tramway Company in August 1920, the Colorado National Guard was so
far under strength that it was ineffective. The Governor requested
and r